IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERIC CHRISTOPHER CALDWELL,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC No.: SC08-1519 L.T. No.: 2D07-565

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA (CONFLICT CERTIFIED)

/

AMENDED JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

FRANK W. MCDERMOTT, ESQUIREJ. ANDREW CRAWFORD, ESQUIREMcDERMOTT LAW FIRM, P.A.McDERMOTT LAW FIRM, P.A.7116 D. Gulfe Direct7116 D. Gulfe Direct 7116-A Gulf Blvd. St. Pete Beach, FL 33706 Ph:(727)367-1080,Fx:367-9940Ph:(727)367-1080,FX 367-9940SPN: 02024575, FBN: 0163120SPN: 02578427, FBN: 0755451COUNSEL FOR PETITIONERCOUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

7116-A Gulf Blvd. St. Pete Beach, FL 33706

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT8
ARGUMENT
THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT IN THIS CASE IS CERTIFIED TO BE IN CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT IN <u>RAYSOR v. STATE</u> 795 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2001). THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT IN THIS CASE CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT IN <u>HIDALGO v. STATE</u> , 959 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) AND ANOTHER DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN <u>D.L.J. v. STATE</u> , 932 So. 2d 1133 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007)
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF FONT COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

Cases

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Eric Christopher Caldwell ("Petitioner") pled Guilty to Arson and Burglary. On July 24, 2004, the court withheld adjudication, and ordered five (5) years of Probation. (V. I, R. 3-4). The Petitioner was arrested on May 28, 2006 for three (3) Vehicle Burglaries. (V. I, R. 23). The State filed an Information charging the Petitioner with these Burglaries. (V. I, R. 63-64). As a direct result, an affidavit alleging a Violation of Probation on the Arson/Burglary charge was then filed on June 7, 2006. (V. I, R. 23). The new burglary charges were the sole basis of the violation. (V. I, R. 23).

A police officer ("Officer Crisco") was dispatched to the Vinoy Towers on May 27, 2006. (V. I, R. 76). He made contact with the security guard and viewed a surveillance video. (V. I, R. 76-77). The video depicted a white male wearing dark clothing and a baseball cap on backwards. (V. I, R. 77). Officer Crisco testified that this video had "terrible" picture quality and that he could not make out any identifying features of the person depicted. (V. I-II, R. 77, 220-221).

The next day, over twenty-nine (29) to thirty (30) hours later, Officer Crisco drove by Williams Park in downtown St. Petersburg, Florida. (V. I, R. 77, 87). Williams Park is thirteen (13) blocks away from the Vinoy Towers. (V. I, R. 84). He noticed the Petitioner and had a "gut feeling" that the

Petitioner was the person depicted in the video. (V. I, R. 83). He drove his fully-marked cruiser over a curb, over some grass, and parked next to a group of people. (V. I, R. 82). There is no roadway in Williams Park. (V. I, R. 82).

Officer Crisco exited his vehicle, and motioned for the Petitioner to come over. (V. I, R. 82). He directed the Petitioner to the back of his cruiser away from the group of people. (V. I, R. 84). Officer Crisco told the Petitioner he "needed to speak to him in reference to some burglaries." (V. I, R. 79). The Petitioner denied any involvement. (V. I, R. 79). Officer Crisco advised the Petitioner that he was the person who appeared in a video. (V. I, R. 79). The Petitioner stated he was not. (V. I, R. 79). The officer then advised the Petitioner that "I think you did it" three (3) more times and then advised the Petitioner of his Miranda rights. (V. I, R. 84-85). The Petitioner asked why was he being arrested. Officer Crisco told the Petitioner he was not, but he needed to ask him some questions. (V. I, R. 228). Officer Crisco said that "too much pointed to him" and "things don't match up." (V. I, R. 85). He never told the Petitioner he was free to leave. (V. I-II, R. 84-85, 87, 225-227).

After being accused numerous times of committing the burglaries, the Petitioner agreed to accompany Officer Crisco to the Vinoy Towers to view the video. (V. I, R. 79-80). Officer

Crisco frisked the Petitioner and placed him in the backseat of his vehicle. (V. I, R. 80). Officer Crisco testified he did not believe that the Petitioner was armed, and admitted that the pat-down was his "routine." (V. I-II, R. 85, 226). The car doors automatically locked. (V. I, R. 86). Officer Crisco again told the Petitioner that he was the individual depicted on the video tape, and continued to accuse the Petitioner. (V. I, R. 80).

Once they reached the Vinoy Towers, the Petitioner confessed to committing the burglaries. (V. I, R. 80). Officer Crisco had the Petitioner repeat his statements to Officer Friedland. There was no other evidence (other than his own statements) linking the Petitioner to the burglaries. (V. I, R. 81).

The Petitioner filed a Motion to Suppress Statements on October 25, 2006. (V. I, R. 66-69). The motion alleged that the Petitioner's statements were the product of an illegal detention. (V. I, R. 66-69). The Honorable Robert J. Morris, Jr., Circuit Judge, heard and denied the Motion to Suppress Statements on December 4, 2006. (V. I, R. 102-103). The Honorable Joseph A. Bulone was transferred to Judge Morris's division on January 1, 2007. (V. II, R. 203).

An evidentiary hearing on the Violation of Probation was held before Judge Bulone on January 19, 2007. (V. II, R. 203).

The Petitioner filed a Motion to Reconsider Court's Order Denying Motion to Suppress Statements at the end of the hearing. (V. I-II, R. 121-122, 207). In the motion, he cited <u>Raysor v.</u> <u>State</u> 795 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). (V. I, R. 122). <u>Raysor</u> held that Miranda warnings alone convert a consensual encounter with law enforcement into an investigatory stop that requires reasonable suspicion. (V. I, R. 122). The Petitioner objected to the introduction of his statements at the hearing based on the grounds raised in the previous Motion to Suppress Statements. (V. I, R. 218).

Judge Bulone denied the Petitioner's motion and found that the Petitioner violated the terms of his probation. (R. 239-240). However, the court ruled that the contact was an investigatory stop. (V. II, R. 239-240). The court sentenced the Petitioner to sixty (60) months in the Department of Corrections. (V. II, R. 243).

Mr. Caldwell appealed the denial of his dispositive Motion to Suppress to the Second District Court of Appeal. (V. II, R. 198-199). On June 6, 2008, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's denial of the Motion to Suppress and held that Miranda warning alone do not covert an encounter into a stop. The Petitioner filed a Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing En Banc on June 14, 2008. The Second District denied both motions on July 17, 2008. The Petitioner filed a

Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court on August 6, 2008.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision which is certified to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). It also has jurisdiction to review a decision that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner, Eric Christopher Caldwell, alleges direct and express conflict between the holding in the instant case and the decision in <u>Raysor v. State</u>, 795 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), in that, according to Raysor, the reading of <u>Miranda</u> rights to a citizen automatically converts a consensual encounter into an investigatory stop requiring reasonable suspicion. The Second District Court of Appeal certified conflict in its opinion. The Petitioner also alleges conflict between the holding in the instant case and the decisions in <u>Hidalgo v. State</u>, 959 So.2d 353, 354 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) and <u>D.L.J. v. State</u>, 932 So.2d 1133, 1134 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006)in that a frisk transforms a encounter into an investigatory stop.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT IN <u>RAYSOR v. STATE</u> 795 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)

THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT IN THIS CASE CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT IN <u>HIDALGO v. STATE</u>, 959 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) AND THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN D.L.J. v. STATE, 932 So. 2d 1133 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007)

Discretionary jurisdiction may be invoked to review any decision of a district court of appeal that is in express and direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same question of law. Fla. Const. Art. V, § 3(b)(4). It also has jurisdiction to review a decision that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii). This Court has held the "concern in cases based on our conflict jurisdiction is the precedential effect of those decisions which are incorrect and in conflict with decisions reflecting the correct rule of law." Wainwright v. Taylor, 476 So. 2d 669, 670 (Fla. 1985). The Second District Court of Appeal opinion in the instant case is in express and direct conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The Second District Court of Appeal has certified this conflict.

On June 6, 2008, the Second District issued a written opinion affirming the trial court's denial of the Petitioner's

Motion to Suppress. The court found that the reading of Miranda rights to a citizen does not convert an encounter into a stop, and certified conflict with the Fourth District. Furthermore, the court, relying on <u>Williams v. State</u>, 403 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) ruled that an officer need not have any reasonable suspicion to frisk an individual who voluntarily becomes a passenger in a police vehicle. The court failed to consider that the defendant in <u>Williams</u>, abducted a woman at knifepoint and sexually assaulted her. The facts in the instant case distinguishable. This holding is also is conflict with the holdings of the Third District, <u>Hidalgo</u>, and the Second District, D.L.J.

Petitioner asserts that the totality of the circumstances would lead a reasonable person in his position to conclude that he could not leave.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing facts, arguments, and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction under Art. V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., to resolve the conflicts outlined above.