IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERIC CHRISTOPHER CALDWELL,

PETITIONER,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-1519 L.T. NO. 2D07-565

STATE OF FLORIDA,

RESPONDENT.

_____/

RESPONDENT'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF ON REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 238538

DIANA K. BOCK Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 440711 Office of the Attorney General 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Telephone: (813) 287-7900 Facsimile: (813) 281-5500

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent acknowledges that pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(d), no jurisdictional brief is required when a matter has been certified as conflict by a District Court under 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi). However, as Petitioner has set forth argument as to the certification of the Second District Court of Appeal, Respondent has set forth's its response for the benefit of this Honorable Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's rendition of the Statement of Case and Facts for the purpose of jurisdictional briefing with the following corrections, additions and/or clarifications:

When the arresting officer, Thaddeus S. Crisco, Jr., encountered the Petitioner on May 28, 2006, he had already viewed the closed circuit video tapes at the Vinoy which depicted the car burglaries. (V. I; R. 76-77) Although the images on the video tape were admittedly of poor quality, Officer Crisco was able to view "a white male wearing dark clothing and a backwards baseball cap," that the individual was wearing a short-sleeved dark colored shirt and dark colored long pants, as well as the general build of the person appearing on the video. (V. I; R. 77-78)

Upon seeing the Appellant the very next day only a few blocks away from the scene of the burglaries, Officer Crisco was struck by the similarities between what he had viewed on the Vinroy's videotape and the Petitioner, including his clothing and general build. (V. I; R. 78) Officer Crisco's contact with the Petitioner was in the nature of a consensual encounter and remained, throughout the contact, strictly voluntary. (V. I; R. 78)

Officer Crisco testified that he did not have any basis to detain the Petitioner and that he was free to go at any time, even after the Miranda warnings were read to him. (V. I; R. 79) After the Miranda warnings were read to the Petitioner, he was directly told by Officer Crisco that he was not under arrest. (V. I; R. 79, 89-90)

The Petitioner requested to view the videotape at the Vinoy. (V. I; R. 80, 85-86, 91) Officer Crisco offered Petitioner a ride to the Vinoy to view the videotape, Petitioner accepted. In order to take the Petitioner to the Vinoy to view the videotape, it was necessary to place him in the back of the patrol car. For purposes of officer safety Officer Crisco conducted a routine, non-intrusive pat down of the Petitioner's outer clothing before allowing him to ride in the patrol car to the Vinoy. Officer Crisco advised the Petitioner that he would need to be frisked

before riding in the patrol car, Petitioner did not object and voluntarily submitted to the frisk. Petitioner was not restrained in any manner during the encounter. Petitioner was free to leave at any time, before, during or after the pat down, even during the transport to the Vinoy. (V. I; R. 80-81, 85-86, 102-103)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner argues that pursuant to Art. V, $\S3(b)(3)$, Fla. Const., this Court may exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the instant issue as considered by the Second District Court of Appeal below as certified conflict; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi) and as being in direct and express conflict with other District Court opinions; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Respondent, however, submits the Second District's opinion in Caldwell v. State, 985 So.2d 602 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008), is factually distinguishable and does not expressly or directly conflict with the Fourth District's opinion in Raysor v. State, 795 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), the Third District's opinion in Hidalgo v. State, 959 So.2d 353 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007), or the Second District's opinion in D.L.J. v. State, 932 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). Respondent further argues that the Second District Court of Appeal did not have a proper

legal basis upon which to certify conflict with Raysor. Accordingly, Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review of the instant case.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT'S OPINION IN CALDWELL v. STATE, 985 So.2d 602 2008), (Fla. 2d DCA AS CERTIFIED, DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICTS WITH RAYSOR v. STATE, 795 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 4^{TH} DCA 2001), AND WHETHER IT FURTHER CONFLICTS DECISION WITH THEOF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT IN HIDALGO v. 959 So.2d (Fla. STATE, 353 3d DCA 2007), AND/OR THEDECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN D.L.J. v. STATE, 932 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007)?

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), this Court is permitted to exercise its discretionary review of decisions of district courts of appeals that expressly and directly conflict with a decision of this Court or another district on the same question of law. Although the Second District Court of Appeal certified conflict with <u>Raysor v. State</u>, 795 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), the facts of this case are significantly distinguishable from those presented for consideration in <u>Raysor</u> and do not present the requisite conflict to permit review by this Honorable Court. <u>See</u> also: Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii).

This Court should decline to entertain jurisdiction because, based upon the facts presented below, the Second District's opinion in <u>Caldwell v. State</u>, 985 So.2d 602 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008) does not directly conflict with the Fourth District's holding in <u>Raysor</u>, nor does it expressly and directly conflict with the Second District's decision in <u>D.L.J. v. State</u>, 932 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007) or with the Third District's decision in <u>Hidalgo v. State</u>, 959 So.2d 353 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007).

The decision in Caldwell is distinguishable from Raysor in a number of ways. First, Officer Crisco engaged Petitioner in conversation and advised him about the burglaries at the Vinoy, the videotape and his belief that Petitioner was the person depicted in that videotape. In Raysor the officer waived at a citizen bicycling down a public street, there was no pending crime which was being investigated not did anything suspicious draw the officer's attention to him, but, immediately upon observing the bicyclist's hands close-up the officer suspected that a crime might exist; i.e., that the bicyclist used crack cocaine and, therefore, could be in possession of an illegal substance, the officer then read him the Miranda warning. The purpose of this was to begin a criminal

investigation based solely upon the officer's observation of callouses on the person's hands, and no more.

Raysor, unlike the facts here, Second, in the Petitioner was explicitly told that he was not under arrest after he was read the Miranda warnings. When viewing the totality of the circumstances in determining whether a particular individual is "in custody," it is paramount to assess the individual's reasonable perception of the situation. In the case below the **Petitioner was expressly** told he was not under arrest, this coming directly after the Miranda warnings were given to him. In fact, it was the reading of the Miranda warnings that prompted the Petitioner to ask Officer Crisco why he was under arrest. At that point, upon being told that he was not under arrest, there was no reasonable basis for Petitioner to believe that he was not free to leave. In direct contrast, the Raysor court found that ". . . the officer's language, i.e., the giving of the Miranda warnings, gave the unmistakable message that the appellant was in custody." 795 So.2d at 1072.

Finally, the <u>Raysor</u> court viewed Miranda warnings as only being **required** when a person was taken into custody, not distinguishing which comes first custody or warnings. However, in the case below the Second District specifically

б

viewed the giving of the Miranda warning, not as a trigger for custody when there was no basis to find that custody previously existed; rather, it was viewed as a heightened protection for the citizen, putting him on notice that what he was about to say could have legal implications beyond that of a mere conversation. This extended citizen protection directed toward an individual's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination does not serve to transform an otherwise consensual encounter into custody for purposes of the Fourth Amendment.

As with the facts in <u>Raysor</u>, the facts found in both <u>Hildago</u> and <u>D.L.J.</u> are readily distinguished from those presented below; thus, do not provide a basis for conflict review by this Honorable Court.

In <u>Hildago</u> police, articulating only a generalized officer safety concern, patted down the defendant when they encountered him on the street with another individual known by the officers to be a burglar. When the defendant complied with the directions of the officers, he pulled a pawn receipt from his pocket while searching for identification. This pawn receipt was taken from the defendant even though there was no legal basis to argue that the receipt presented an officer safety concern. In the case below Officer Crisco only requested to conduct a

pat-down of the Petitioner in anticipation of placing him in the patrol car to take him to the Vinoy to view the videotape. The search was voluntary and occasioned by the Petitioner's desire to view the videotape. Officer Crisco did not have the Petitioner turn out his pockets or take anything from him. This is a significant distinction given the circumstances: Officer Crisco was about to place the Petitioner in his patrol car, in the backseat directly behind him, while he drove the Petitioner, at his request, to the Vinoy to view the videotape. This raised an well-articulated concern for Officer Crisco's express, Importantly, this concern was prompted by the safety. Petitioner's request to view the videotape and accepting a ride in the patrol car to travel to the Vinoy.

Officer Crisco did not place Petitioner in the position of submitting to a pat-down; rather, the Petitioner placed himself in that position. Petitioner had it within his power at all times during the encounter to decline the pat-down and leave the area, he knew he was not under arrest and that he was voluntarily going to look at the videotape. Officer Crisco was not presented with an amorphous, generalized concern for officer safety, he was presented with a palpable, direct concern for his safety if he placed an individual behind him in his patrol car

without knowing if that individual was armed and would thus pose a direct threat to his safety during the ride to the Vinoy.

in Lastly, the facts the present case are distinguishable from those presented for review in D.L.J., thus, the Second District's opinion does not provide the requisite conflict to establish jurisdiction. In D.L.J. the officers were responding to report of rock throwing at a vacant house, without more, the officers went to the address and upon arriving at the address they saw two juveniles running from the back of the house. Some of the officers gave chase while other officers approached the juveniles who had not run. Without more, one of the officers patted down the defendant who was among those juveniles who had not run from the house. At that point the officers were not certain that a crime had been committed, the defendant had not raised reasonable suspicion by fleeing; rather, he had remained and spoke with the officers. At the suppression hearing the officer who conducted the pat-down search did not testify, the record in that case did not support the speculation that officers had a basis to believe that the juvenile was armed. Contrary to those facts, the court below in this case was presented with direct testimony from Officer

Crisco explaining that Petitioner was voluntarily riding in his patrol car, this would place him directly behind the officer while he was driving to the Vinoy. This goes beyond those types of "searches performed routinely" for officer safety which have been condemned as constitutionally impermissible.

Given the foregoing, Respondent respectfully argues that this Honorable Court lacks jurisdiction to hear this matter since there is no direct, express conflict between the District Courts' rulings. Alternatively, should this Honorable Court determine that conflict exists, given the circumstances of the ruling below and the narrow facts upon which it is predicated, this would not be the type of case that would have wide-spread application and does not warrant review under this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court decline to exercise its jurisdiction in this case.